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PURPOSE OF THIS COMMUNITY ANALYSIS

As an initial and important step to understanding the communities in which the Eden Area Livability
Initiative focuses, it was clear that an existing conditions analysis was needed.

This document profiles the five defined communities as they exist previous to this effort, so that the
process of developing an overarching and shared vision can be set by first establishing clear indicators and
goals based on where these communities currently find themselves and where they would like to be in the
future.

This Community Analysis places current available data on the five defined communities side by side, so
that the reader can make comparisons between the individually defined communities and the area as a whole
in comparison to the cities within Alameda County. It is our understanding that this information has never been
compiled into one document which specifically focuses on this unique set of communities.

The intention is not to place judgment on the current conditions of these communities, but rather display
the data, so that community members and other readers can make their own determinations of where support
needs to be placed in order to enhance the livability of the urban unincorporated communities of Alameda
County.




EXPLLANATION OF DATA PART 1
EXPLANATION OF DATA, MAPS AND BOUNDARIES OF DATA COMPARISON
Communities
e Ashland
e Castro Valley
® Including the Canyon Lands
= Ridge line communities
e El Portal Ridge
e Fairmont

e Fairmont Terrace
e Hillcrest Knolls
e Cherryland
e Fairview
e San Lorenzo
CENSUS DATA = ORGANIZED BY CENSUS DESIGNATED PLACE (CDP)
1. Castro Valley (Includes the Communities of Castro Valley, Hillcrest Knolls, Fairmont, Fairmont
Terrace, & El Portal Ridge) (The Castro Valley Canyon Lands such as Palmores and Five
Canyons are not included in this CDP)
2. Fairview
3. San Lorenzo — (Hayward Acres is not include in this CDP)
4. Ashland (including a small section of the freeway over-pass within the El Portal area)
5. Cherryland
COMMUNITY DESCRIPTIONS
Unincorporated Alameda County in the vicinity of the communities of Ashland, Castro Valley, Cherryland,
Fairview, and San Lorenzo is in the western portion of Alameda. These communities are located primarily
between the cities of Hayward, Dublin and San Leandro.

COMMUNITIES & ZIP CODES

94541 94552
e Fairview e Castro Valley
e A small part of south side Castro
Valley 94577
® Most of Cherryland e North tip of Fairmont
e All of Hayward Acres e North tip of Hillcrest Knolls
o A little of the south east part of San Lorenzo
94578
94542 ®  Majority of Hillcrest Knolls

Northeast side of Ashland

e South hook of Fairview d
e  Majority of Fairmont
o

94545 Most of El Portal Ridge
e A strip of the south-west side of San Lorenzo
94579
94546 o  West side fringe of Ashland
e Castro Valley,
e Part of El Portal Ridge 94580
e Small Part of Ashland ® San lorenzo

o West side of Ashland




GEOGRAPHIC BOUNDARIES AND MAPS PART 2
COMMUNITIES BY ZIP CODE
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Spanish Franciscan priests established Mission San Jose in 1797. The mission brought European-style agriculture and
ranching to California, but its main purpose was to convert the Ohlone to Catholicism. Accounts differ as to HISTORY

OF THE AREA' PART 3

Ohlone Indians

The Ohlone or Coastanoan Indians (meaning “coast people”, as they primarily lived along the bay and delta)
were the first people to reside in the area we now call Castro Valley. European influence was not fully felt here until
1769, with the arrival of the Franciscan missionaries from Spain.

As many as 30 or 40 Ohlone villages once rimmed the shores of San Francisco Bay. Most villages consisted of
between 10 to 15 families.

Dome shaped houses were made from tule reeds growing in the marshlands and were gathered around a central
clearing. Elevated graineries stored acorns which were ground and prepared as a mush. When the tule became dry, they
would be burned and the structures rebuilt. This practice also controlled fleas and vermin. Over 400 shell mounds, remnants
of the Ohlone's sea food consumption, remained as artifacts of village life until the early 1900s, witness to a thriving
population. Food was not a problem and sharing from the hunt was a point of honor in Ohlone society. Village society was
cooperative rather than competitive. Villages had one or more sweat houses, dug into the ground at the edge of the
village or on the downstream side of the creek. Gathering there was a ritual of reverence and purification observed
before a hunt. A death brought enormous grief to the Ohlones and was ceremoniously observed by wailing and tears from
family and villagers both near and far. According to ritual, all possessions of the deceased (bows; blankets; medicine
mortar, etc.) were broken or disfigured at the owner's death.

The homes on the Ohlone were made of tule reeds and were not large because people only used them for
sleeping. Ohlones spent most of their day together in the center of the village. Life in the village was not all work - there
was plenty of time for games and relaxation. Acorns were the main food for Ohlone people. Acorns have to be cracked
open, pounded into flour, and washed to remove acids before they can be eaten. In most hunter-gatherer societies, 80% of
the calories were provided by grains, fruits and vegetables which were gathered and prepared by the women. Men
hunted animals in the hills around the village. A successful hunt takes a great deal of skill, so if the men returned with a
large animal such as a deer, there was a celebration in the village.

The landscape was very different in the days of the Ohlones. Marshes spread for thousands of acres, fringing the
shores of the bay. The area was filled with huge flocks of waterfowl and birds. Tall bunch grasses covered vast
meadowlands and tree spotted savannahs. Oak, Bay, and Redwood forests covered many of the surrounding hills. Huge
herds of deer and antelope grazed the meadowlands. Competing for game were wolf packs, grizzly bears, bobcats,
mountdain lions, and coyotes. A local stronghold of the Ohlones was known as the "Springs." Fairmont Hospital now stands
at its site.

The Ohlone lived in Castro Valley for thousands of years. San Lorenzo Creek was a perfect location for a village.
A variety of plants grew in the area that could be used for food, medicine and shelter. The creek attracted animals such as
deer, elk, rabbits, squirrels, and birds.

1769 — 1850 The Mission & Mexican Land Grant Period

As early as 1769 Spanish soldiers and padres explored northern California in search of sites for missions. In the
area of San Lorenzo, they found Indian villages along the creeks, lush vegetation, and abundant game. With the
establishment of Mission San Jose in 1797, the San Lorenzo area was part of the Mission lands and served as a cattle
range.

When Spanish rule in Mexico ended in 1821, the new Mexican government did not approve of the activities of the
missionaries. A decree forced the Indians from the mission, the land fell into neglect and the buildings were plundered. In
1834, 2,300 Indians remained at the mission, while others returned to village life. During this period, 1833 to 1846, many
of the vast Mexican land grants were settled, changing the area the Indians had known forever. By 1842, only 400 Indians

! We gratefully acknowledge the following for source materials:
The rancho of Don Guillermo : history of San Lorenzo, Hayward, and Castro Valley ; Alameda County, California / John S. Sandoval, Hayward, Calif.
: Mt. Eden Historical Publishers, c1992 , The Ohlone way : Indian life in the San Francisco-Monterey Bay Area / by Malcolm Margolin; illustrated by
Michael Harney: Berkeley, Ca. : Heyday Books, c1978 , Archives: The Daily Review - ANG Newspapers, Archives: The Castro Valley Forum, The
Hayward Area Historical Society and especially Ray and Lucille Lorge . The Lorge Family --Ray Lorge, Lucille's late husband, and his family were vital
forces in shaping Castro Valley's history through both industrial and civic contributions. Lucille continues this tradition through her work with the
Hayward Historical Society and in many other ways. Ray and Lucille Lorge's families both had roots deep in Castro Valley's past; and both families
made many contributions to the growth of Castro Valley.

Other information was gathered from the following : www.haywardareahistory.org, http://www.haywardareahistory.org /index.html , and
an Overview of San Lorenzo History, By Jody Stock and Michael Corbett : http: //www.sanlorenzoexpress.com /history /hxsurvey.html




remained at the mission. These converts were demoralized. Others returned to traditional hunting and foraging in a
landscape now roamed by settlers and cattle.

whether Ohlone people moved into the mission by choice or coercion. By 1834 there were over 2,000 Ohlone
living at the mission. Mission San Jose is still standing in Fremont. The old buildings are open to the public.

After Mexico declared independence from Spain the new government asserted its claim over California and took
charge of the missions' land holdings. The areas that now comprise San Lorenzo, San Leandro, and Hayward were part of
large land grants given to former soldiers and others who served the Constitutional Governor of the Department of
California. The first grant was given to Don Jose Joaquin Estudillo in 1842 in the area around San Leandro. The Castro and
Soto families were the next Spanish settlers. Castro resided around present-day Hayward, and Francisco and Barbara
Soto built their homestead close to where the town of San Lorenzo would be located. Boundaries were vague, and both the
Estudillos and the Castros claimed the lands bordering San Lorenzo Creek. The southern survey area was within Soto's
grant. Despite the growth of San Francisco, Oakland, and other cities around the area, few outsiders came to Eden
Township.

During this period little farming was done, but some land was cultivated in grains, corn, and watermelon. Rancho
inhabitants grazed cattle throughout the valleys and killed them for their tallow, hides, and meat. In addition, there was
plentiful game such as bears and deer, and the marshlands along the Bay were filled with geese, ducks, and curlews.

There were few roads in the area except for two long trails that connected the ranchos to the mission in the south.
Native Americans continued to reside along San Lorenzo Creek -- an Indian hut was located on the land now used as the
San Lorenzo Cemetery -- and along the marshes as late as 1859.

1838 — 1864 Don Guillermo Castro - The San Lorenzo Land Grant

Don Guillermo was born in California, then a Mexican possession in 1810. He was the son of Don Carlos Castro of
Las Lagas Rancho. His birthplace was located near the village of Coyote in Santa Clara County along what is now highway
101. A career soldier, he served in the Mexican army as a lieutenant of militia at the pueblo of San Jose. In 1838, he was
listed as a surveyor of government lands in San Jose, and it is about this time he acquired his land grant, roughly 28,000
acres, then known as Rancho San Lorenzo. This land included those areas we now identify as Hayward, San Lorenzo, Castro
Valley, as well as Cull, Crow and Palomares canyons. The sprawling grant encompassed about 41 square miles. Castro
had by then married Luisa Peralta of the San Antonio Rancho, then located in East Oakland. By the time he was 28 years
old, Castro was the father of seven children.

Acquiring clear ownership of the land, often given as a reward for good service, was relatively simple. A request
was made in writing to the governor describing the land as clearly as possible and submitting a map of the area. The
grantee was required to build a home, and engage in either cattle or agricultural development. As a wedding gift,
Guillermo and Luisa received 300 prime steers. He soon added 4,000 sheep and 500 horses which grazed on the rich
grass. Don Guillermo built an Adobe home where Hayward's Old City Hall now sits on Mission Blvd. The foundations of this
home were unearthed during excavations for the building of city hall.

In spite of his magnificent holdings and connections, Don Guillermo fell prey to a weakness for gambling. Selling
off portions of his lands to pay gambling debts and mortgaging his property finally cost him his Rancho. Eventually, his
debts culminated in a sheriff's sale in 1864. A wealthy New Englander, Faxon Dean Atherton, bought the remaining acres
for $400,000. He and his family's name lives on in the San Mateo community of Atherton. Don Castro took the younger
members of his family and moved to Chile where he spent the remainder of his life.

1848 - Castro Valley - Early Settlers & California Gold Rush

The discovery of gold in California on January 24, 1848 by James Marshall at Sutter's Mill created a stampede of
people to the area. Many were disappointed in their quest for gold but stayed on, some to purchase or squat on portions
of Don Castro's Rancho. Don Castro met William Hayward living at the mouth of the Palomares Canyon, where Rowell
Ranch is now located. Hayward was lured from San Francisco by stories of the rich East Bay territory. Although Castro
pointed out that Hayward was trespassing, the two eventually became friends. Finding that Hayward had skills in cattle
ranching, Castro suggested that Hayward relocate to what is now known as Hayward. Castro sold him 56 acres of land,
and Hayward built the first house at what we now know as 'A’ Street. "Haywards" became a flourishing town, noted for its
orchards and promoted as a "resort" for visitors from Oakland and San Francisco.

1850 - 1900 - United States Annexation & Creation of Alameda County

The gold rush drew many fortune seekers to California, but despite their dreams, many later found themselves
unemployed and broke. Captain William Roberts was one such miner. He was first drawn to the area around San Lorenzo
Creek on a hunting expedition in 1850. He found that the abundant game could bring a fair price in the San Francisco
market, so he moved to the area and built a landing consisting of a wharf and several warehouses at the mouth of San
Lorenzo Creek. By 1853 a freight and passenger schooner offered regular service between the landing and San Francisco.




In the early days of California statehood, people claimed land simply by living on it. But in San Lorenzo the land
had already been claimed by Mexican landowners. Some of the newcomers thought they had a legal right to squat on this
land. In 1853, a group of them formed the "Pre-emptioners League" of "settlers upon what are supposed to be the public
lands belonging to the United States." The leader of these squatters was Jacob Harlan, who had been a scout with General
Fremont. He wrote a book about his experiences called California '46-48. (Today's Harlan Street is named after Jacob
Harlan.)

Within the year other settlers were drawn to the area by the abundant game and rich soils. The Estudillo and Soto
dispute over the land around San Lorenzo Creek atiracted squatters who believed landowners without clear possession
couldn't evict them. In 1852 Estudillo began litigation against the squatters. In his case and others like it throughout
California the United States government put the burden of proof on the Mexican landowners. The expenses surrounding the
validation of land titles were ruinous to some of the owners, and many chose to sell off or lease their holdings. The town of
San Lorenzo was originally called Squatterville.

Many of the early settlers and squatters who came to San Lorenzo built small homes on their farm land. These
homes were often miles from town, and were isolated from each other. Elise Bockman LaFleur remembers her grandfather
Bockman's home: "Oh, it was a marvelous place for a city child to spend a summer. We lived in San Francisco, but | spent
part of each summer there. ...There were walnut trees and wisteria vines, and | remember a huge magnolia tree in back of
the house. | was always outside playing."

In 1853 the County of Alameda was created, and in 1854 the town was officially given the name San Lorenzo.
Excellent soil conditions, weather, and minimal frost meant crops could be grown year round. The American settlers first
raised potatoes, barley, wheat, and cattle but by the 1880s the new inhabitants realized the potential of the land for
growing fruit trees; Eden Township had the most orchards in the area. Pears, plums, and apricots were popular, and cherry
trees were particularly abundant. William Meek and E. Lewelling had the greatest land holdings and largest orchards in
San Lorenzo. The town was also growing and attracting commercial and manufacturing companies. John Boyle erected the
first blacksmith's shop in the county there in 1853.

As the area grew, the rancho-to-rancho trails were expanded into roads capable of carrying freight wagons,
carriages, and horse and buggy traffic. In addition, numerous new roads were constructed during this period. Many of
these connected the existing mission roads to new towns and landings where produce was shipped to markets in San
Francisco. The network of roads was erratic. Similarly, property lines for farmsteads were formed by former rancho
boundaries, roads, and natural features and were highly irregular. In contrast, towns like San Leandro, San Lorenzo, and
Hayward were plotted with orthogonal lots and streets.

In the second half of the nineteenth century various immigrant groups joined the American settlers in Eden Township.
The largest numbers of new residents were Portuguese. Many Portuguese (or more specifically Azoreans) bought small
farms and raised vegetables and pouliry. Others worked on neighboring farms as farmhands. By 1860 a "Little
Copenhagen" of Danish immigrants was created around Mt. Eden.

Historic Homes of San Lorenzo

The 1878 Atlas of Alameda County noted that in San Lorenzo some "residences, grounds, orchards, and gardens
indicate a class of inhabitants that has profited by the natural wealth to make luxuriant and comfortable homes." San
Lorenzo had 11 mansions: Burr, Hathaway, King, Lewelling, Marlin (3), McConaghy, Meek, Roberts, Smyth Some of these
people made their money by establishing orchards on the rich soil. Roberts established a landing along the bay and
profited from transporting the fruit from the orchards to San Francisco. The Burr, McConaghy, Meek and Roberts homes are
still standing.

One historic home still standing today is the Heide house. It was originally a farm house, so it was not located in
town. This home has been restored and is now the headquarters for Village Realty at 1048 Grant Avenue. If you drive by,
try to imagine when it was a farm house surrounded by acres of open fields.

John and Eliza Marlin traveled by ship from Pennsylvania to Oregon, crossing the Isthmus of Panama before the
canal was built. In 1852 they moved to "Squattersville." They raised fruits and vegetables, and continued to purchase more
land until they had built a small fortune. One of the Marlin daughters - Josephine Marlin Tychson - moved to Napa Valley
and, after her husband's death, became the first woman to run a winery on her own. It is still in existence today as the
Freemark Abbey Winery.

The intersection of the streets we now call Lewelling and Hesperian was the original center of San Lorenzo. If you
go behind the shopping center at that corner, you will see the original homes that made up the community of San Lorenzo
on Usher, Tracy, Sycamore Streets.

San Lorenzo's first Post Office was dedicated April 4, 1854. It was located in the San Lorenzo House (hotel), and
owner Albert E. Crane was also the postmaster. He had to select a name for the Post Office, as "Squattersville" didn't seem
like a good permanent name. The town could have been called "Crane's" since it was in his hotel, but Albert Crane was
more modest than William Hayward, and the name of the old Mexican rancho was selected: "San Lorenzo." The mail was
received in Shiman's store starting in 1859. Residents had to come to the Post Office to pick up their mail until 1904 when




Joe Correa began to deliver mail to homes. He used a wagon pulled by a horse named "Babe." Joe replaced Babe with
the area's first car in 1918. He continued to be San Lorenzo's letter carrier until he retired in 1934.

The first school building in San Lorenzo was constructed in 1859. Prior to that classes had been held in a portable
room built on a wagon. The mobile classroom went back and forth between San Lorenzo and Hayward. The new school
was near the "Four Corners" where all the local businesses were located. By 1902 a larger building was needed, so a two-
story wood building was constructed on the same site. When an arsonist burned down the wood building, it was replaced
with a brick structure. That building was in use until 1952, when it was closed because it was not earthquake safe. Now the
site of that school is the home of the school district office at College and Usher.

Do you have a fruit tree in your yard? You may have one of the few artifacts of San Lorenzo's orchard era.
Centennial Yearbook of Alameda County (1876) said: "San Lorenzo is a place of about 250 inhabitants, and one of the
most beautiful horticultural villages anywhere to be found. It is a mass of orchards and gardens, with fine roads and good
drives." "One of the foremost nurseries in the state is that of Eli Lewelling, at San Lorenzo." The family was from Wales, and
originally spelled their name Llewellyn, but they soon "Americanized" it to Lewelling.

It seemed logical for fruit growers in San Lorenzo to want to process their crops so they could sell them for a higher
profit. They had been drying their own fruit by laying it out in fields. But in the 1870s, they tried something new. According
to Centennial Yearbook of Alameda County 1876: "A few years [ago] a number of the fruit-growers formed a joint stock
company and established the first Alden process fruit-drying establishment on the coast. For some cause, or perhaps a
combination of causes, and although Chinese cheap labor was employed, the enterprise has not proved a success. The
factory is in San Lorenzo." The fruit drying factory failed, but the community gained in the long run. The building became
the Village Hall which was the social center of town for many years to come.

1859 — 1880 - William Meek - Pioneer Farmer and the Meek Estate?,
Hampton and Boston Roads in Cherryland

William Meek, planner and builder of Meek Mansion, was one of the first pioneers of commercial agriculture in
Alameda County. From his arrival in 1859 to his death in 1880, Meek worked energetically to develop the fertile
agricultural region lying in and around Eden Township.

In 1859 Meek and Lewelling sold out their Oregon holdings and reinvested them with lands of the Francisco Soto
grant to the north and west of Guillermo Castro's grant and his village of Haywards (as it was then called). Lewelling
reestablished his nursery business at San Lorenzo, and later Niles. William Meek began general farming on his large
acreage, ultimately three miles of land running north-south between Mission Blvd. and Hesperian Blvd., from San Lorenzo
Creek to A Street in Haywards, as it was then called. His farm contained 2,200 acres of the highest quality deep loam in
the state.

Born in 1817, Meek grew up in Ohio and lowa. Following the tragic death of his young wife and two sons in 1847,
Meek left home and immigrated to Oregon. He established a nursery in the Williamette River Valley with Henderson
Lewelling and began shipping trees and fruit to California. Meek received fabulous prices for his goods from the lucrative
San Francisco Bay Area Market.

In 1859 Meek decided to sell his holdings in Oregon and relocate to Alameda County. During the Civil War Meek
devoted himself to grain-growing and sheep-raising, and by 1866 had developed a system of rotation his crops. In grains
he sowed 600 acres of wheat one year, Chevalier barley the next, and sometimes corn and oats. One year he planted 50
acres of tobacco, which was harvested and sent to auction houses in Louisville, Kentucky, where it commanded premium
prices.

By 1869, when the Meek Mansion was built for $40,000, Meek had acquired some 3000 acres, most of which
were former grounds of the Lorenzo Spanish land grant held by Soto. Meek's estate included all of the land from what is
now Mission Blvd. to Hesparian Blvd. to just past Winton Ave. His former partner, Lewelling, purchased adjoining land to
the north. These properties became known as "Cherryland" because of the many cherry trees planted by Meek. The trees
had been carried from lowa by wagon train, and they were the first grafted fruit trees to reach the Pacific Coast. Meek
also had extensive apricot, plum and almond orchards.

In addition to his distinction as the "first farmer" of Alameda County, William Meek was known for his participation
in all facets of life in early Alameda County. He was elected County Supervisor for four terms, beginning in 1862. Meek
organized Hayward's first Agricultural Society, which chose him as its president in 1867. Meek was a member of the first
board of trustees of Mills College and was active in many other community services.

William Meek developed his own nursery stock and planted 20,000 almond trees on his own land and sold
another 7,000 to South County neighbors. His orchards contained 4,200 cherry trees, 3,000 plum and prune trees, and

http://www.sanlorenzoexpress.com /history /meek.htm




225,000 currant bushes. Local legend has it that the "Bing" cherry variety originated on the Meek farm, and was named
after the Meeks' Chinese cook, who first used the cherries to make superb pies.

Meek built a water reservoir on San Lorenzo Creek, where it cuts its way through the Prospect Street hill, and ran
pipes to carry the irrigation water as far as 3 1/2 miles to his fields and orchards. Meek employed over 100 farm hands,
in addition to Chinese cooks and house servants. Over 100 horses and mules were stabled in his barns and milk herds
numbered two dozen producing cows. Large-scale farming of pears, cherries, plums, apricots, and peaches replaced the
grain fields in southern Alameda County. In 1880 the invention of the refrigerator car made it possible for local farmers to
send fruit to Atlantic seaboard markets and reap large profits.

After Meek's death in 1880, the estate was left to his sons, Horry and William, who continued to manage the
property for many years. Horry Meek was distinguished as the president of the Bank of Hayward, while William Meek
headed the firm that built the first electric car line from Oakland to Hayward in 1892,

The Meek Estate remained in the Meek family until 1940, although most of the 3000 acres were sold gradually in
small parcels. In 1940 Dr. Milton P. Ream purchased the last 10 acrs and the mansion. In 1964 the mansion was slated to
be razed in preparation for a housing development. The Hayward Area Recreation and Park District, with citizen backing,
bought the estate. In 1973 Meek Mansion was placed on the National Register of Historic Places. For a number of years
the mansion was available to the public for rental for parties and wedding receptions. However, over-use and the need for
greater supervision caused H.A.R.D. to discontinue the rental policy.

The Carriage House restoration was completed in 1995. In May 1996, H.A.R.D. approved funds for architectural
planning for restoration of the mansion.

1852 — 1875 Castro Valley - Early Settlers - Castro Valley's Founding Families

Faxton Atherton sold off Don Castro's remaining land in smaller parcels. And so, between 1852 and 1872, the
valley grew. A large portion, 2,400 acres, was purchased by Misters Cull and Luce, who erected a steam operated saw
mill in the area of Redwood Canyon. As many as nine other mills operated and harvested the redwood trees in what is
now Redwood Regional Park. Cull Canyon remains as a namesake of this purchase. Some of the old building still remains
in Cull Canyon where their orchards once covered the hills.

The Jensen brothers, E.R. and J.C. Jensen, purchased land in the foothills from Atherton in 1867. A house was
ready for occupancy in 1872 and was of a "salt box" design. A dormer window was added in 1882 and other additions
followed in time -- a cement foundation, extra bed and bathrooms in 1939. Always well maintained, these were the only
additions to the original structure. It is probably one of the oldest homes in Alameda County continually lived in by
descendants of the original family.

James Harvey Strobridge, a long time railroad man, supervised construction on the Central Pacific line through the
Sierra Mountains and on into Utah. After this arduous but successful task -- cutting a pass through the granite of the Sierras
-- he came to the Castro Valley area with a contract to build a railroad from Niles to Oakland.

Settling here, he bought 500 acres from Father Zackariah Hughes in 1869, which was known as Laurel Farms. His
beautiful estate, then located on Grove Way where Baywood is, boasted its own race track and horses as well as orchards
and a stately private residence. Childless, he and his wife Maria adopted three of her brother's children and two others
from orphanages.

A look back at the names of the Castro Valley pioneers of 1876 will include many of these family names. Others
came later, buying acreage, as Strobridge and Stanton did, from the original holders. Like the Stanton House, some of
these early homes still exist. The Peter Hoare property remains on Redwood Road and is now a private residence.

Another early resident of Castro Valley and railroad man like Strobridge was Michael Stanton. He and his wife
Mary purchased 500 acres of land from Mattox and Hughes off Mattox road in 1871. In 1873 they bought an additional
120 acres in the vicinity of where Eden Hospital now stands and built the family home. The home was moved from that
location in 1973 to its present address on Norbridge Avenue. It is currently privately owned and rented as office space.

The Stanton family had two children, John and Anita, whose names were also memorialized in Castro Valley's
streets. The "Stanton House" was built by the Mattox family in 1860. Michael Stanton bought it in 1868. He owned 500
acres of land along Castro Valley Boulevard. Originally on Lake Chabot Road, the house was moved to prevent demolition
in 1975. It is now on a busy corner of Strobridge Avenue by the freeway.

Japanese Nurseries

A wave of Japanese immigrants flowed to the East Bay in the early years of the twentieth century. The East Bay
Flower Growers Association members were mainly Japanese. Families worked hard to establish greenhouses and raise
flowers, along with specialty crops such as strawberries. Hot house roses and carnations were shipped via refrigerated cars
to Los Angeles and New York. The first Japanese immigrants found work as:

e Cannery Foreman

o Tomato and Cucumber Farmer




Berry Farmer

Strawberry Farmer (8 families)
Cucumber, Tomato, Pea, and
Rhubarb Farmer

Nursery Worker

Nursery /Roses Worker

But the Japanese immigrants were not often welcomed by European immigrants. Laws were established that prevented
Japanese people from becoming citizens or owning land. They had to rent land to farm. The last of the laws specifically
limiting the rights of Asians was not repealed until 1965.

World War Il brought sad years for Japanese residents of the United States. According to San Lorenzo historian Doris
Marciel: "When the United States entered World War |l, after the bombing [by Japan] of Pearl Harbor, the Japanese
were forced to leave their places and go into internment camps. Some of the farms went to ruin. After the war, many of the
Japanese returned to re-establish farms and nurseries. After over 60 years of raising flowers in their nursery on Ashland
Avenue, the Okada family sold its nursery.

1878 — Railroad Brings New Commerce

In March of 1878 the South Pacific Railway Company began service from Santa Cruz to the Oakland waterfront
passing through Mt. Eden and San Lorenzo on the way. Only eight years later, the railroad was sold to the Southern
Pacific. The introduction of rail transport reduced the need for shipping by boat and caused the economic demise of
Roberts' Landing. Shipping by rail became the standard method of transporting the area's produce. According to the 1898
publication Alameda County, lts Cities, Towns, and Environments, more fruit was shipped out of the San Lorenzo Railroad
Station than any other station in the state. The products of stockyards, packinghouses, and the Trojan Powder Factory were
also shipped on the rails.

In addition to freight, the Southern Pacific lines ran fifteen passenger trains a day. By 1895 Oakland, Alameda,
and Hayward were also connected by sixty to seventy miles of interurban rail lines. A branch line connected San Lorenzo
with the main Key Line. This passenger railroad allowed residents of Eden Township to work or do business in Bay Area
cities to the north.

Farmers of the area were proud of their land and crops. Although in the 1880s grain crops still dominated, fruits
and vegetable were becoming increasingly important. The 1883 History of Alameda County, California boasted about
Eden Township, "it should be said, that in this vicinity there is the finest soil in the whole valley, as the magnificent orchards,
splendid gardens, and ripe grain-fields indicate. It is truly a garden spot!" Farmers benefited from the excellent weather
and soils and grew more intensive crops like fruit. At this time, many large ranches were broken down into smaller farms.

The only manufacturing jobs in San Lorenzo were at the blacksmith shop of Henry Smyth. According to the Historical
Atlas of 1878: "Henry Smyth, who had been employed by Boyle and started the first forge-fire in San Lorenzo, succeeded
to his business, which has grown into an establishment for repairing and manufacturing farm machinery, employing from
fifteen to twenty men."

Anthony Chabot was called the "water wizard" when he created a 315 acre lake at the north end of Castro
Valley in 1879. A crew of migrant workers carried buckets of dirt to build the earthen dam. It was packed down daily by
running herds of wild mustangs back and forth. The reservoir served as a primary source of water for the East Bay.

Through the efforts of Clarence Wilson and a band of his sportsmen friends, he eventually was able to open the
area for recreational use. In 1964 the park district signed a 50 year lease on the 1178 acres of land and lake we now
enjoy today. In the 1869 Earthquake, then called "The Great One," a fissure opened in the land and salt water flowed
into Coyote Creek. This poisoned many of the areas wells. The Earthquake also leveled many of the buildings in what was
then called "Haywards."

The first free-standing San Lorenzo post office opened in 1893. The building had previously been a barber shop,
and was located on Lewelling Boulevard and Usher Street. Postmaster Gertrude Mooney and her assistant Mary Videll
were in charge when the first Bohannon homes opened. Suddenly 1,325 new families needed mail service and the two
women worked from six in the morning 'til midnight, seven days a week, in cramped and drafty quarters. Streets have
been named after both of these ladies in honor of their heroic efforts.

When San Lorenzo Grove opened in 1893, the Hayward Journal called it the "Picnic Paradise of California." The
Grove featured picnic grounds, ball fields, an outdoor bandstand, and the oak grove for which it was named. The Grove
was located at Tracy and Lewelling, a few blocks from the Oakland-San Leandro-Hayward Electric Trolley Line which ran
along East 14th Street. Oakland residents would take the trolley down to San Lorenzo to spend a relaxing day in the
country. Or they would stay in one of the hotels in San Lorenzo for an extended vacation. In 1895, the Grove was
purchased by the trolley company, which then extended the trolley line all the way to the front gates of the Grove. They
also built the dance pavilion. Business slowed down in the 1920s. The trolley company sold the Grove to M.S. Rodgers, but




he had to close it in 1926. Rodgers used lumber from the dance pavilion to build a house for his daughter, Mary Videll.
The home is still standing on the corner of Tracy Street and Lewelling Boulevard.

For residents of early San Lorenzo the place to go for fun was the Village Hall on the corner of Lewelling
Boulevard and Usher Street. The auditorium in the hall hosted travelling vaudeville shows. Dances were held in the hall. It
was also used by local clubs, such as Woodmen of the World and Ladies Aid, for meetings and socials. The building was
originally constructed for use as a fruit dryer, but that business failed. It was then adapted to use as a community center.
The building remained standing until 1953, but its heyday as a community center was 1894-1924.

The cornerstone was laid for St. John's Catholic Church in 1897, and construction was completed in 1901. It was
originally a mission church, which meant that it did not have a regular priest of its own. Visiting priests came on Sundays to
hold mass. St. John's became a parish church in 1925.

California Packing Co. provided seasonal work at a facility in San Lorenzo in the early 1900s. It operated as Del
Monte Plant Number 9. The large cannery opened with the asparagus season in early spring and ended in the fall with the
tomato crop. Because many of the workers were women, the cannery operated a daycare center as early as 1919. The
facility was located on Hesperian, where the Highway 238 interchange is now.

San Lorenzo Creek

The creek was important to the early development of San Lorenzo. It provided fresh water for horses and people
at the stage stop. Captain Roberts was able to sail boats across the bay from the mouth of the creek. Before storm drains
were built, San Lorenzo Creek used to flood regularly. There are newspaper accounts of a flood which peaked on January
23, 1862, when - following an inch of rainfall in 40 minutes - the water in the creek rose 7 feet, 2 inches in 58 minutes,
washed two slaughterhouses downstream and then overflowed its banks and inundated the surrounding farmland.

Castro Valley - When Chicken Was King

One of the most notable periods in Castro Valley's history began in the 1900s, with the ranching of chickens. At this
time there were only 373 families living in 57 homes. Many of the residents were of Portugese or German heritage.

The former Castro land continued to be broken into smaller plots. In the early 1900s Castro Valley was home to
many small chicken farms of three and four acres. By 1925 the valley was ranked 2nd in the world in egg and hatchling
production. It is estimated that the population of Castro Valley was 800,000 hens and 5,000 people. A little downtown
area developed to support the needs of Castro Valley's 5,000 residents. Many of the businesses provided supplies for the
poultry industry in the valley.

The Alcorn Chicken Ranch farmhouse was reportedly built in the 1890s. The Alcorn’s tended to 3,000 chickens and
a cow on this ranch. In the early 1900’s, George Alcorn would start the day very early in the morning, gathering eggs and
sorting them in this building. He then would take the family’s Model T truck and deliver the eggs to restaurants and hotels
in Oakland and Berkeley before teaching his first class at 8 a.m. at U.C. Berkeley. He later was appointed Director of the
Agricultural Extension at the University. He made many contributions to national agricultural policy in this position.

One of the first of about 12 hatcheries on Castro Valley Boulevard was "Hayward Rio- Linda." Kale was grown in a
nearby field to feed the growing flocks.

At the end of WWII, business slowed down. Many young cockerels were colored with vegetable dye, making colorful
Easter gifts. Though the colored down did grow out when feathers came in, the S.P.C.A. took a dim view of the practice and
it was stopped.

Henry Thomford (Lucille Lorge's great-grandfather) opened what was probably the first business in Castro Valley. It
was known as the Exchange and was located on the corner of Grove Way and Redwood Road (where the Presbyterian
Church now stands). Mr. Thomford figured that both the drivers who drove the dusty Dublin Road from the Livermore Valley
and their horses would want to stop for a drink on their way to the stockyards and markets in San Francisco. After the
horses were watered at his troughs, the drivers would head into the saloon for a cool schooner of beer. Thomford also
offered cheese, pickles, and fresh German sausages prepared by his wife. He also allowed passersby to view the three-
headed chicken he kept preserved in a jar.

1910 - Automobile Period

By the 1910s, automobiles were common in the East Bay. But roads were still just dirt trails, and cars often got stuck
in the mud after rainstorms. The California legislature passed a gasoline tax to be used for road maintenance and
construction in 1923, and the ease of auto travel increased. Gus King remembers one particular flood around 1916: "l was
coming home from high school and the creek had flooded, covering the road at East Fourteenth and Mattox Road. Cars
were stalled, so | hurried home, hitched up a team of horses and earned some money by offering to pull them out."

Eventually, better roads brought more cars. The ability to travel easily to jobs in Oakland allowed homes to be
built on former farmland in San Lorenzo. Traffic lights were installed on Hesperian in the mid-1950s. Freeways were built
to accommodate the increased traffic.




San Leandro and the surrounding communities like San Lorenzo grew dramatically in the early twentieth century
and continued to attract, among other groups, Portuguese immigrants. However, census records for 1910 show that many of
the Portuguese in the area were the children of Azoreans (Portuguese) who had settled in the country in the 1880s and
1890s. In the early twentieth century more Portuguese immigrants arrived in the county and joined an established and
flourishing Portuguese community. The 1911 United States Senate's Report of the U.S. Immigration Commission (Vol. 24,
Part 11, Immigrant Farmers in the Western States, Chapter XIV) indicated that nearly two-thirds of the 2,600 residents of
San Leandro were of Portuguese decent. San Lorenzo also had a high proportion of Azoreans.

Like the previous generation, the Azoreans were often farmers and laborers. Many owned their land, but many
others rented land and worked to be able to buy a farm. The Portuguese immigrants formed strong and active
organizations such as the Portuguese Union of the State of California based in San Leandro. These social and protective
societies offered members social gatherings, picnics, parades, and life insurance. Civic clubs and fraternal lodges were
popular with immigrant and native groups.

Census records show that by 1900 Japanese immigrants were living in the area and working on farms as laborers.
By 1910 a Japanese family was listed as owning a nursery. According to Harwood Hall, author of “Eden Township: It's
Agriculture”, Chinese immigrants and their descendents found employment in the area as farm workers or were self-
employed as small-scale commercial farmers.

As the area continued to grow, the landscape was changed to accommodate development. Numerous roads were
built, and the mouth of San Lorenzo Creek was rerouted. The creek's channel was straightened -- ostensibly to maximize
arable land. In addition, by 1933 the San Mateo Bridge just south of the southern study area connected the East Bay
communities with the San Francisco Peninsula. The introduction of automobiles and the construction of numerous roads made
truck farming (small farms) possible. The southern study area developed during the Twenties and Thirties as small
farmsteads surrounding the community of Russell City. During this period, fruit orchards and vegetable farms predominated,
and poultry farms were common. New technology allowed the farmers to ship their produce to previously inaccessible
markets. By using new pickling, canning, and refrigerated transportation methods, produce was sent to New York and
Boston markets.

When some of the orchards were turned into housing tracts in the 1910s and 1920s, more schools were needed.
Ashland Elementary School was built in 1923 and Sunset Elementary School in 1926.

The San Lorenzo library was the first official branch of the Alameda County library system. It was established in
1910. The first San Lorenzo library was in the Village Hall. It then moved to its own building at Hesperian and Sycamore
around 1930. A new library building was constructed around 1945 next to the firehouse on Paseo Grande. A few years
later the building was bought by a church and moved to Hacienda and Via Toledo. The current library is behind the
Village Association building.

The Modern Era 1930 - 1960

The Depression hit the area hard, as it did everywhere else across the U.S. But Castro Valley people stuck together
and pulled through.The building now housing Adobe Arts Center was built as a government W.P.A. project during the
Depression. The Works Project Administration created work for many young men who constructed buildings all over the U.S.
The adobe was built as headquarters for the Castro Valley Elementary School District in 1938.

After World War Il the population of Castro Valley jumped 400%. Because of the G.l. Bill, there was a great
demand for new homes. Most of the chicken farms and ranches were divided into smaller lots and developed for housing.
The business district on Castro Valley Boulevard grew to meet the needs of the new population. Clubs and civic
organizations also flourished.

No town in the 1940s was complete without its own movie palace. The Lorenzo served the community of San
Lorenzo starting in 1947. The interior was painted with beautiful murals, which are still there. This theater is on the State
and National Registers of Historic Places. Although it is still standing on Hesperian Boulevard, its future is in question.

Even though it was named "Oakland Speedway" the auto race track was located in San Lorenzo at the corner of
Hesperian Boulevard and E. 14th Street.

1950s - San Lorenzo High

San Lorenzo students had to travel to Hayward to go to High School until the 1950s. San Lorenzo High School had
its ground breaking in 1950 and opened for classes in 1952. The school was originally part of the Hayward Union High
District.

Eden Medical Center is located on the old Stanton family property (as well as the former Wally Glass' Pigeon
Ranch and Riding Stables.) and fronts Lake Chabot Road. Eden is now the largest employer in Castro Valley. The school
district is second.

Rowell Ranch Rodeo Park off the 580 freeway is believed to be the location where William Hayward was found

camping by Don Castro. Now part of the East Bay Park District, it hosts an annual Rodeo. The week before, Castro Valley
hosts a parade welcoming the Rodeo to town.




Americans joined clubs after World War I, and San Lorenzans were no exception. A Boy's Club started in 1953,
and soon had 350 members. The Earl Bowers Memorial Scout Cabin was dedicated 1952. At first it was used by Boy and
Girl Scouts, then the Girl Scouts got their own building, the Ophelia Bohannon building in 1954.

The San Lorenzo Village Homes Association Board of Directors bought land on Grant Ave for a park. In 1958 the
land was leased to the San Lorenzo Little League "whose volunteers built the diamonds, fences, restrooms, and nursed the
grass fields before opening day 1959. The rent: $1.00 a year, an arrangement that lasted some twenty years."

World War Il Development

The first three decades of the twentieth century saw significant growth in Eden Township, however no period could
compare with the explosive development of the World War Il housing boom. The vast shipyards in Oakland and Alameda
were enlarged and operated around the clock in support of the war effort. Hundreds of thousands of workers were lured
to the area by the high-paying jobs at the yards. Unfortunately housing couldn't keep pace with demand and resulted in a
serious crisis. The large fields of San Lorenzo's farms provided ample open-space for the development of much-needed
housing tracts. The War Department's 1942 map showed the large blocks of undeveloped farmland in the area. The
proximity to shipyards made the area ideal for the construction of new housing.

David D. Bohannon, president of the Bohannon Organization, set out to build a planned model community called
San Lorenzo Village on the former site of the H.T. Smyth farmstead. Bohannon's project received government support; the
Bohannon Organization was granted permission from the War Production Board to build despite material restrictions, and
the community was the largest home development ever insured by the Federal Housing Agency. Construction proceeded at
unprecedented speed. According to Ruth Hendricks Willard's book on Alameda County, using pre- assembly and
streamlined mass construction methods (Bohannon called it the California Method), the organization finished three-bedroom
homes at a rate of one or more an hour in 1944 and 1945. War workers could rent one of these houses for $50 a month
or purchase one for $5,950. But housing wasn't enough -- Bohannon wanted a complete community. At San Lorenzo Village
he built a shopping/entertainment center complete with a movie theater (the Lorenzo Theater), restaurants, clothing stores,
and a post office. A medical center was also part of the complex. The village would eventually consist of 5,547 homes.

San Lorenzo Village Homes Association

Purchasers of homes in San Lorenzo Village had to agree to abide by rules created by the developer. Most of
these rules were designed to maintain the value of the community by not allowing people to let their property become run-
down. These covenants are similar to the rules often enforced by condominium homeowner associations today. However, the
original covenants also included restrictions on the race of acceptable buyers. These restrictions are still on the deeds for all
property in the area, although they are no longer legally enforceable.

Building Types and Common Styles

The Victorian Style was common in the late 19th century. Most of these are pattern-book houses -- their designs
came directly or indirectly from published plans in books, journals, newspapers, manufacturers' catalogs, or other sources.
The plans may have been drawn by architects, but the houses were built by carpenters or builders who may have altered
the plans freely -- or worked from memory of other houses. These were one- or two-story balloon or platform frame
structures built on brick foundations and clad in siding of milled lumber. An irregular footprint and complex roof shape
reflected the skill and ambitiousness of the builder. Decorative details, especially in gables and on porches reflected the
production of building parts in factories. Plans of these houses tended to be formal with central or side halls and rooms
that could be closed off.

After the turn of the 19th century, a new house type was commonly built in the area called a bungalow, in
reference to a characteristic house encountered by the British in India. In San Lorenzo these were small, one-story houses
with low-pitched roofs and porches. They were wood frame structures often clad in stucco, reflecting both a stylistic
preference and an effort to build more fire-resistant houses. Some of the people who lived in San Lorenzo may have
moved out of San Francisco after the 1906 earthquake and fire. Inside, these houses were more open than the houses of
the previous generation. Living room and dining room spaces often flowed together. Many bungalows are referred to as
Craftsman bungalows, having details that suggest construction by handcraft methods rather than the factory methods that
actually produced them.

From the 1910s to the 1940s, many houses were designed in styles referred to as the Period Revivals. In structure
and plan these were similar to bungalows, but they loosely adopted imagery associated with the architecture of various
times and places. These houses reflect the influence of Hollywood and are somewhat like stage sets. Some of these
houses were dressed variously with details like stucco walls and red tile roofs associated with California during the
Spanish and Mexican periods. Some had steeply pitched roofs and half-timbering as in medieval England. Some had
columns and classical details associated with Colonial America.

From the late 1930s to the 1950s many houses were built following the guidelines of a Federal Housing Program -
- the Federal Housing Authority. The FHA program was designed to encourage small, inexpensive houses with modern




amenities. These houses came in a great variety of shapes but were descendants of the bungalow. They were modestly
decorated with various stylistic details -- most commonly Colonial or Modern. The Bohann